1954

James S. Devine et al v. Helen Cook and W. S. Hatch Co., Inc. : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action arising out of an automobile collision in which the automobile owned and driven by the plaintiff, James S. Devine, collided with an automobile

driven by the defendant, Helen Cook. The collision occurred at the intersection of 1500 South Street, Bountiful, Utah and U. S. Highway 91, (Tr. 5, 6). The plaintiffs were all in the car proceeding north going to Ogden on U. S. 91; the defendant Helen Cook had been proceeding east on 1500 South Street and had come to a stop at the stop sign where said street intersected with the through highway. A tank truck and four-wheel trailer and a tractor pulling a semi-trailer transporting a tank owned by the defendant W. S. Hatch Company had also been proceeding north on U. S. Highway 91, but had slowed down and one of the trucks had come to a stop in preparation of turning left to go west on 1500 South St., (Tr. 7, 15, 16). Although the driver of the first truck stated that he did not remember motioning or signalling to Mrs. Cook to proceed across the intersection, (Tr. 174) Mrs. Cook and a witness, Elora Hutchings, both testified that the driver had motioned or signalled to Mrs. Cook to clear the intersection, (Tr. 50, 60). The truck drivers stated that they could not make a left turn until Mrs. Cook had cleared the intersection, (Tr. 174, 175). The defendant Cook stated that upon being signalled by the truck drivers to clear the intersection she proceeded across U. S. Highway 91 until she passed in front of the truck, at which time she first noticed the automobile of the plaintiff. Then it was too late to avoid the collision, (Tr. 61). The plaintiff, James S. Devine, testified that the two tankers had previously passed his automobile; however, as they approached the intersection they began to slow down and

he assumed that they were either going to stop or make a left turn, and he likewise began to slow down. As he overtook the last tanker he glanced between the two trucks and saw a flash or a blur and he immediately put on his brakes, pulled over to the right shoulder of the road but he was unable sufficiently to stop his car to prevent the collision, (Tr. 16). The left front of the Devine car collided with the right front of the Cook car.

At the time of the collision Mrs. Devine stated that she was riding in the front seat, sitting sideways with her back toward the right hand front door talking to her sister who was riding in the back seat, (Tr. 68). As a result of the collision Mrs. Devine received a fractured rib, (Tr. 70), a fractured metatarsal bone in the foot and a tooth was knocked loose, which resulted in the nerve becoming dead and required extraction thereof and a replacement with an artificial tooth by means of bridge work, (Tr. 69). The plaintiff, Miss Gusinda received various bruises and bumps and complained of pain in her back and it was later determined or diagnosed that she was suffering from a ruptured inter-vertebral disc, (Tr. 122, 150). In addition to general pain and soreness in the area of her back upon three separate occasions prior to the time of trial, the disc had protruded into the spinal column, causing severe pains and temporary or partial paralysis, or inability to use her legs, (Tr. 89, 91, 150). The plaintiff, Dr. Devine, is seeking to recover damages to his automobile and personal injuries suffered as a result of a moderate brain concussion, (Tr. 22), caused

from a blow upon his head, and all of the plaintiffs are seeking special damages in addition to their general damages.

The defendants in their answer denied negligence and also pleaded contributory negligence of Dr. James S. Devine as being the sole and proximate cause of the collision and resulting injuries. The case was tried before a jury which returned a verdict of no cause of action as to all three plaintiffs. Although the defendants did not specifically plead any contributory negligence on the part of Mrs. Devine and Miss Gusinda, passengers in the automobile driven by Dr. Devine, the court permitted the defendants prior to instructing the jury to amend their pleadings to allege contributory negligence on the part of such passengers, (Tr. 188), and the court then proceeded to instruct and submit to the jury the issue of contributory negligence as to all of the plaintiffs.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE INSTRUCTIONS PREJUDICIALLY ACCENTUATED THE DUTY OF THE PLAINTIFFS AND MINIMIZED THE DUTY OF THE DEFENDANTS.

POINT II.

IT WAS ERROR TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON AN ISSUE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE OF THE PLAINTIFFS, MISS GUSINDA AND MRS. DEVINE.

POINT III.

THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE WERE ERRONEOUS AND PREJUDICIAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE INSTRUCTIONS PREJUDICIALLY ACCENTUATED THE DUTY OF THE PLAINTIFFS AND MINIMIZED THE DUTY OF THE DEFENDANTS.

Instruction No. 1 contained the statement of the court as to the allegations of the plaintiffs concerning negligence of the defendants and the answer of the defendants alleging contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff, James S. Devine.

Instruction No. 2 concerned the burden of proof and the necessary allegations which must be proved by the plaintiffs and specifically mentioned that the court would further instruct the jury "relative to contributory negligence as it applies respectively to the plaintiffs."

Instruction No. 3 defined the terms: negligence, contributory negligence and proximate cause.

In Instruction No. 4 the court specifically instructed the jury as to the issue of contributory negligence and in so doing in part stated as follows:

"You are instructed that if you find by a

preponderance of the evidence that Dr. James S. Devine was guilty of contributory negligence, which in any degree contributed to the happening of this accident, he cannot recover even though you find that one or both of said defendants was negligent in the happening of this collision. It is the law of this state that a plaintiff who is negligent and such negligence proximately contributes to the happening of the accident in question that he cannot recover. Therefore, you are instructed that if you find Dr. Devine was negligent, as I have above indicated, and the same proximately contributed to the happening of the collision he cannot recover."

The court, in the same instruction, advised the jury that if Dr. Devine's negligence was the sole proximate cause of the collision then the other two plaintiffs could not recover against the defendants. The court continued as follows:

"In this connection you are further instructed that if you find either one of the woman plaintiffs guilty of contributory negligence which in any degree proximately contributed to the happening of the collision then and in that event such plaintiff so guilty cannot recover."

So far as the above instructions go they would not be objectionable except as argued in Point III. However, in reviewing the balance of the instructions which in two other separate and specific instructions again instructs on the issue of contributory negligence there appears to be prejudicial error.

Instruction No. 5 contains a general instruction as to the operation of vehicles upon the highway with reference to speed, starting, stopping, slowing down, turning, keeping a proper lookout, etc. Such instruction as applied to all of the parties was no doubt proper. However, Instruction No. 6 again reverts to the issue of contributory negligence on the part of the two plaintiffs who were passengers in the automobile. The instruction provided as follows:

“You are instructed that *it is the duty of guests* in an automobile to use all reasonable precautions for their own safety, and in the discharge of such duty, *they are required to see and to warn the driver* of the automobile in which they are guests of the dangers which a reasonable and prudent person riding as a guest in the automobile of another would use for his own safety; and if they fail to use such reasonable care they are negligent, and if such negligence possibly contributes to any extent, however slight, to produce their injury they cannot recover. Thus in this case, if you find that at the time of the collision and resulting injuries, if any, the plaintiffs, Janet Gusinda and Mrs. James S. Devine, or either of them, were guests in the automobile driven by James S. Devine, and that a reasonable and prudent person under all of the facts and circumstances as shown by the evidence should have seen the danger of the collision which caused their injuries, if any, and would have warned James S. Devine of such danger, and that by such seeing and warning, the collision and injuries, if any, may

have been averted, *and that they, or either of them, failed to see the danger or failed to warn James S. Devine of it*, and that such negligence contributed to produce the collision and resulting injuries, if any, then the person who was guilty of such negligence cannot recover for her injuries, and your verdict in the action brought by her must be in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiffs.” (Emphasis added.)

It will be noted by the foregoing instruction that the court commences the instruction by stating that it is a positive duty of the guests to see and to warn the driver if, under the circumstances a reasonable and prudent person would do so, and then particularly identifies these plaintiffs and again repeats that if they failed to see or warn the driver such conduct would constitute negligence and would bar their recovery. Contrast this instruction with Instructions No. 7 and No. 9 pertaining to the duty of the two defendants and again the Instruction No. 8 as to the duty of the driver Dr. Devine. Instruction No. 7 was as follows:

*“You are instructed that a driver of a vehicle upon a highway has no duty to ascertain or advise other drivers whether they may safely enter upon or pass over said highway; but if the driver undertakes to make such a determination and does so advise others, then he must exercise reasonable caution, circumspection and care that his conclusions are correct.” * * **

The Court then proceeded to discuss whether W. S.

Hatch Company, through its drivers, did undertake to determine whether the defendant, Helen Cook, could safely enter and pass through the intersection. The instruction proceeds first with the negative that there is no duty except under certain circumstances.

Instruction No. 8, pertaining to the duty of James S. Devine, provided in part as follows:

“You are instructed that *it was the duty* of James S. Devine in driving down the highway toward the intersection in which this collision occurred to keep a reasonable and adequate lookout, * * * to use reasonable care * * * to avoid the hazzards. * * * It was the plaintiff James S. Devine’s duty to observe the relative position of other vehicles on the highway, the existence of the intersection, and to proceed in such a manner that he would keep his vehicle under reasonable control and prevent the same from colliding with other objects or vehicles lawfully upon the highway. If you find that the plaintiff James S. Devine at said time and place failed to exercise reasonable control of the vehicle he was driving, then he would be negligent.” (Emphasis added.)

This specific narrative type instruction discussing the conduct of the plaintiff, James S. Devine, was unnecessary in view of Instruction No. 5 covering the duties of drivers generally, and Instruction No. 4 on Contributory Negligence. Again note the positive nature of the instruction as to what was required of the plaintiff.

The contrast between Instruction No. 8 and Instruction No. 9, which follows, is again significant:

“You are instructed that the law does not require a person to be extraordinarily alert, or to foresee all that can be seen by looking back after the happening of an accident. Where a person exercised reasonable and ordinary caution; that is, a degree of care, which would ordinarily be exercised by a reasonable and prudent person, *he is not negligent*. In this case, the defendant, Helen Cook, *was not under a duty to foresee* all that she might at this time be able to foresee or appreciate by looking back at the accident, *nor was she required to use extraordinary caution* for the avoidance of any injury that she could reasonably have expected under the circumstances. If you find from the evidence in this case that this defendant did observe that degree of care and caution that should be ordinarily observed by ordinarily prudent persons under similar circumstances, then you are instructed that the defendant, Helen Cook, discharged the duties imposed upon her and you should return a verdict in her favor.” (Emphasis added.)

It will again be noted that the instruction is by its terms negative.

Instructions No. 4, 6 and 8 pertaining to the standard of care and contributory negligence are positive and peremptory, while Instructions 7 and 9 pertaining to the standard of care required of defendants are negative and nugatory.

Instruction No. 10 is a general instruction that there are sometimes collisions which are unavoidable accidents and if the jury found that this collision was caused not by any negligent conduct of any of the parties they could find that it was an accident. The balance of the instructions are stock instructions or deal with the issue of damages.

The instructions cast doubt upon the case of the plaintiffs by frequent use of the words "if any" in reference to the collision and injuries. As an example part of instruction stated as follows:

"Thus in this case, if you find that at the time of the collision and resulting injuries, *if any*, the plaintiffs Janet Gusinda and Mrs. James S. Devine, or either of them, * * * should have seen the danger of the collision which caused their injuries, *if any*, * * * and that by such seeing and warning, the collision and injuries, *if any*, * * * and that such negligence contributed to produce the collision and resulting injuries, *if any*, * * *"
(Emphasis added.)

No such qualifying terms were used when referring to negligent conduct of these plaintiffs. Rather the concluding part of the instruction states:

"And that they, or either of them failed to see the danger or failed to warn James S. Devine of it, and that *such negligence* contributed to produce the collision and resulting injuries, if any, then the person who was guilty of *such negligence*,

cannot recover for her injuries and your verdict in the action brought by her must be in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiffs." (Emphasis added.)

By such qualifying terms the court cast doubt as to the existence of any injuries suffered by the plaintiffs and characterizes the conduct of the plaintiffs as being negligent. This accentuation of the defendant's case, as included in the instruction requested by the defendants, was one more factor tending to discredit the claim of the plaintiffs and obviously caused the jury to believe that the court thought the plaintiffs were negligent and their alleged injuries were fallacious.

In addition to emphasizing the positive requirements and duties of the plaintiffs and stating in the negative manner the duties of the defendants the court continually and repetitiously instructed the jury concerning the contributory negligence of the defendant. The court not only mentioned the issue of contributory negligence in the first instruction pertaining to the allegations of the plaintiffs, in the second instruction dealing with the burden of proof, and in the third instruction in defining the terms, but specifically instructed the jury as to the contributory negligence of the plaintiffs in three of the other instructions pertaining to liability. Instruction No. 4 discusses contributory negligence of all of the plaintiffs, Instruction No. 5 deals with the general duty of all drivers, Instruction No. 6 the contributory negligence of the plaintiffs, Miss Gusinda and Mrs. Devine, and In-

struction No. 7 the duty of the truck drivers. And then again in Instruction No. 8 the court returned to the issue of contributory negligence of the driver James S. Devine. In Instruction No. 9 the court minimized the duty of the defendant, Helen Cook, and in Instruction No. 10 discusses unavoidable accidents. Punctuated throughout the entire group of instructions as to liability is the continual and repetitious discussion of contributory negligence.

The court in the case of *Keeshin Motor Express Co., Inc. et al v. Glassman*, 219 Ind. 538, N.E. 2d 842, 850 had occasion to consider repetition of instructions as a ground of reversible error. The court reviews in some detail cases on this subject matter and cites at page 853 of the North Eastern 2d Reporter numerous cases which granted a reversal on the sole ground of repetition of instructions. Other cases are cited where repetition of instructions was one of the grounds for reversal. The court held as follows:

“With this situation it was incumbent upon the trial court in his instructions to clarify the issues without giving any of them undue prominence. This was not done. The instructions as a whole are lengthy, intricate, repetitious, argumentative and confusing. The tend, to appellant’s disadvantage, by needless repetition to draw the jury’s consideration away from the conduct of appellee’s brother and to lead the jury to believe that, in the court’s opinion, what he did or failed to do was of little consequence.”

The Utah court in the case of *Shields v. Utah Light*

& *Traction Co.* 99 Utah 307, 105 P. 2d 347, 349 stated that "the reiteration of given propositions to the jury in the instructions does not have judicial approval." After reviewing in some detail the instructions the court held:

"And the resulting emphasis on applicable laws unfavorable to plaintiff's side as the result of continual reference and repeating of certain law propositions resulted in the unbalancing of the charge, and error."

Certainly continual repetition of instructions on contributory negligence and the positive delineation of the duties of the plaintiffs, as contrasted with the qualified negative statement of the duties of the defendants, only permitted the jury to return its verdict of no cause of action. The instructions taken as a whole, even assuming they were correct as given, constitutes prejudicial error.

POINT II.

IT WAS ERROR TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON AN ISSUE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE OF THE PLAINTIFFS, MISS GUSINDA AND MRS. DEVINE.

As previously stated the defendants did not plead contributory negligence on the part of the two passengers in Dr. Devine's automobile. Only after the case had been tried and the court had indicated the instructions which were to be given, and upon objection by counsel for the plaintiff that the issue of contributory negligence was not supported by the pleadings or the evidence, were the

pleadings amended to raise the issue of contributory negligence as to each of these two plaintiffs. It is submitted that the evidence did not support any instruction on this issue. No witnesses other than the plaintiffs themselves gave any testimony concerning their conduct or what happened so far as these plaintiffs were concerned. The complete testimony of these two witnesses, as to what they observed and what they did prior to the collision indicates that there was no basis for the charge that they did not act as reasonable and prudent persons.

Mrs. Devine testified as follows:

“A. I was talking to my sister who was in the back seat. I was sitting sideways and I noticed the two big oil tankers passing us up and then they began to slow down and I noticed that our car was slowing down; and then I was looking at the oil tankers and I noticed this blur, and then I felt our car brakes being put on and the next thing I heard was coming to and trying to get air, trying to breathe, but my lungs and chest wouldn't expand enough and I thought I was dying.” (Tr. 68).

Upon cross examination the witness, Mrs. Devine, testified as follows:

“Q. You were looking out the window, out the front window all the time?

- A. No, I was sitting sideways in the car, talking to my sister and looking out at the tankers.
- Q. And you were looking out the side at the tankers, is that correct? As you were going from Salt Lake to the point where the accident occurred, were you observing the highway?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you see Mrs. Cook's car prior to the collision?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you assume that to be the car that you later collided with?
- A. After I came to, yes.
- Q. Now did you say anything to your husband about that car?
- A. Well, I imagine so. I don't get excited that way.
- Q. Pardon?
- A. I don't become excited that way.
- Q. In other words, you didn't become excited so you didn't say anything to your husband about the car then?
- A. No.
- Q. You didn't tell him about this blur you saw crossing the highway?
- A. No, because he had put on the brakes at the same time that I saw it." (Tr. 79).

The testimony of the plaintiff, Miss Gusinda, was as follows:

"A. Well, we were coming down this road, we were on our way to Ogden and we were driving

abreast of these two tanker trucks. I think we were behind the second one and at first they were passing us and then we started to gradually catch up to them and I remember that at the time I thought I saw a wheel or something on the other side of the road. I am rather mixed up on that part of it. Anyway, I thought the first truck went on and that this car came off of the side road and that was the one that hit us, that went in front of the trucks; the second truck cleared it."

Q. Alright. Where were you just prior to the collision?

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