1954

James S. Devine et al v. Helen Cook and W. S. Hatch Co., Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The defendant, Helen Cook, however, pleaded contributory negligence on the part of the guest passengers and tried the case on that theory and at the conclusion of the evidence it was apparent to the trial court and to defendants' counsel that there was sufficient evidence to take the case to the jury on the question of contributory negligence on the part of the guest passengers.

In their brief the plaintiffs overlook certain facts which create a decided conflict with plaintiffs' theory as to how the accident occurred. The witness, Elora Hutchings, called and vouched for by the plaintiffs, testified that Mrs. Cook was stopped at the stop sign two or three minutes before she started forward (Tr. 57). Herschel Metcalf testified that he was stopped for a minute to a minute and a half (Tr. 148), and Mrs. Cook stated this time to be a couple of minutes (Tr. 64). Philip Tumor, the driver of the second truck, stated that he was stopped possibly a minute before the Devine car passed him (Tr. 182). The plaintiff, Dr. Devine, testified that he was travelling about thirty to thirty-five miles per hour (Tr. 40), that he had observed that the trucks had slowed down most likely to make a left turn (Tr. 50), that as he slowed down and went to go past the first truck he saw what he thought was a blur and stuck his foot on the brake and turned to the side, and that he came to almost a complete stop when the impact occurred (Tr. 16). The police officer called by the plaintiff testified that the Devine car laid down 49 feet of skid marks before the point of impact and that the Cook car left no skid marks before the impact.

Both of the guest passengers, Mrs. Devine and Janet Gusinda, testified that they saw the two tankers and Mrs. Devine testified that she noticed a blur and then felt the car brakes being put on, but she did not say anything to her husband (Tr. 68, 78, 79), while Janet Gusinda thought she saw a wheel or something and thought the first tanker went on and that the Cook car came off the side road in front of the second truck (Tr. 85). It was her impression that a car was coming across the highway but at the time

the brakes were being applied and she did not say anything to Dr. Devine about it (Tr. 97, 98).

It thus appears that the jury might well have found that the accident did not happen as claimed by plaintiffs but that a situation existed for a period of time ranging from one to two or three minutes during which time the plaintiffs, as they approached the intersection, might well have observed the condition and the guest passengers would have had ample time to apprise their driver of the situation after it appeared that he was not aware of the danger and did not intend to yield the right of way to Mrs. Cook. The fact that Mrs. Cook had the right of way cannot be disputed under the evidence, and according to Dr. Devine's own testimony he was nearly stopped at the time of impact. The jury would have certainly been justified in finding that the slightest warning on the part of the guest passengers would have apprised Dr. Devine of the danger and enabled him to avoid the collision.

This court has on numerous occasions discussed the degree of care which a guest in an automobile or other vehicle must exercise for his own safety. In *Atwood v. Utah Light & Ry. Co.*, 44 Utah 366, 140 P. 137, this court said:

"... It no doubt is the law, as contended by appellant's counsel, that every occupant of a vehicle in which he is riding, must always exercise ordinary care for his own safety, and if, by the exercise of such care, he could avoid injury to himself, but fails to do so, he cannot recover, regardless of the fact that he had no control or direction of the vehicle in which he was riding at the time of the ac-

cident and injury. * * * Of course every one who may be riding in a vehicle, whether as passenger, invitee, or otherwise, must always exercise ordinary care and prudence to avoid injury to himself, and to that end, in case of imminent danger, must leave the vehicle in case such a course is practical and necessary to avoid injury. Again, he may not sit silently by and permit the driver of the vehicle to encounter or enter into open danger without protest or remonstrance and take the chances, and, if injured, seek to recover damages from the driver of the vehicle or from the one whose negligence concurred with that of the driver's, or from both."

The rule as to when contributory negligence shall be submitted to the jury and when it should be ruled on by the court as a matter of law is set forth in *Shortino v. Salt Lake & U. R. Co.*, 50 Utah 476, 174 P. 860, as follows:

"That the question of contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff, like that of the negligence of the defendant, is for the jury, where the evidence and the inferences to be deduced therefrom are such that reasonable men may arrive at different conclusions, has so often been decided by this court that the proposition has, in effect, become elementary.

"In other words, if there is any substantial doubt whether a plaintiff was or was not guilty of contributory negligence, or whether, if negligent, such negligence was the proximate cause of the injury, the court cannot determine the right to recover as a matter of law, but must submit the question of contributory negligence or of proximate cause, or both, to the jury as questions of fact.

"Where, however, the facts are conceded, or

there is no conflict in the evidence, and upon a consideration of all of the evidence, and the legitimate inferences that may be deduced therefrom, but one conclusion is permissible, then both questions are questions of law, and must be determined as such by the court.”

In *Montague v. Salt Lake & U. R. Co.*, 52 Utah 386, 174 P. 871, the court considered the duty of a guest riding in the same automobile involved in the accident in the Shortino case. In holding that the question of contributory negligence on the part of the guest was properly submitted to the jury, the court said:

“The rule applicable here, which is adopted by the Supreme Court of Minnesota in the case of *Cotton v. Willmar & S. F. Ry. Co.*, 99 Minn. 366, 109 N. W. 835, 8 L. R. A. (N. S.) 643, 116 Am. St. Rep. 422, 9 Ann. Cas. 935, which case is cited and followed in the *Atwood Case*, *supra*, is stated thus:

“The rule which has met with general approval in the more recent cases makes the passenger responsible only for his personal negligence, and leaves it to the jury to determine whether, under the circumstances he was justified in trusting his safety to the care of the driver and not looking or listening for himself. The negligence of the driver is thus not imputed to the guest or passenger, but the circumstances may be such as to make it the duty of the passenger to look and listen and attempt to control the driver for his own protection. The passenger is thus held responsible for his own negligence, but not for the negligence of the driver. He must exercise due care and caution, and, if his negligence contributes approximately to the accident, he cannot recover damages.’ ”

In *Cowan v. Salt Lake & U. R. Co.*, 56 Utah 94, 189 P. 599, suit was brought by another passenger in the Shortino car. The court gives an exhaustive review of cases from all states and concludes by approving the rules laid down in the Atwood case and Montague case. In its opinion the court said:

“ * * * we can conceive of no reason why the question of whether a passenger or an invitee riding in a vehicle was guilty of contributory negligence, in view of all the circumstances which would bar a recovery, should not be left to the jury, unless that question is free from substantial doubt.”

In *Lawrence v. Denver and Rio Grande*, 52 Utah 414, 174 P. 817, it was held that a guest, failing to see the train where a view was apparently unobstructed and a warning signal was given, was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. In its decision this court said:

“Assuming for the sake of argument, but not conceding, that plaintiff was merely the guest of Bird, and was in no sense responsible for the manner in which Bird operated and managed the automobile while making the trip in question, it nevertheless was incumbent upon him to exercise ordinary care and prudence by making diligent use of his senses of sight and hearing, by looking and listening for trains as the automobile approached the crossing, and to heed the warnings and signals of the approach of the train, and to suggest to Bird that they stop until the danger was over, and to protest if that was not done * * * .”
(Citing cases)

In objecting now to the trial court instructing on

contributory negligence on the part of the guest passengers, and particularly as to the form of the instructions, the plaintiffs are again confronted with their exceptions to the court's instructions taken at the time of trial. The most that can be made out of plaintiffs' exceptions is that they (1) excepted to the third paragraph of Instruction No. 4 which injects into the lawsuit the issue of contributory negligence on the part of Miss Gusinda and Mrs. Devine since the issues were not clearly raised by the pleadings and were not supported by any factual theory presented during the trial; (2) excepted to Instruction No. 6 on the very same grounds and reasons; and (3) excepted to Instruction No. 9 on the grounds that the last two sentences single out one of the defendants and limit her duty.

On this appeal for the first time the plaintiffs complain as to the form of Instruction No. 4 regarding the duty of Dr. Devine and to the form of Instruction No. 6 regarding the duty of the guest passengers. We agree with counsel for defendant, Helen Cook, who requested the instructions, that the words complained of by plaintiffs "in any degree" and "to any extent, however slight" do not render the instructions so faulty as to be reversible error under the recent case of *Johnson v. Lewis, et al*, _____ Utah_____, 240 P. 2d 498. We strongly urge, however, that plaintiffs cannot be heard to complain as to the form of the instruction at this time. The only grounds for plaintiffs excepting to Instruction No. 4 and Instruction No. 6 were that the issue of contributory negligence on the part of Miss Gusinda and Mrs. Devine, the passengers in the automobile, "were not clearly raised by the pleadings and were not supported by any factual theory

presented during the trial of the lawsuit.” (Tr. 206) As has already been pointed out the defendant, Cook, pleaded contributory negligence as an affirmative defense and tried the case on that theory and at the conclusion of the evidence the record shows that the court permitted the defendant, W. S. Hatch, Co., Inc. to amend its answer to conform to the proof. It has also been demonstrated that there was ample evidence to support the defendants’ theory of contributory negligence on the part of the guest passengers. If plaintiffs had been concerned about the form of the instructions on contributory negligence the objections should have been taken at the time of trial. We again call attention to the rule laid down by this court in *Employer’s Mutual Liability Ins. Co. of Wisconsin v. Allen Oil Co.* (supra) that “No objection having been made which pointed out with any degree of particularity wherein the instruction was not supported by law, we will not here consider the instruction on its merits.”

In *Walkenhorst v. Kesler*, 92 Utah, 312, 67 P 2d 654, the court held that exceptions to instructions as a whole cannot be sustained if part of the instruction is good. In its opinion the court said:

“The exceptions to the instructions were as a whole. The exception did not even specify any particular instruction. The six instructions were grouped together. The ‘rule (is) too well established to be the subject of controversy that such an exception cannot be sustained if any part of the instruction is good.’ *Hansen v. Oregon S. L. R. Co.*, 55 Utah, 577, 188 P. 852, 854; *McLaughlin v. Chief Consol. Min. Co.*, 62 Utah, 532, 220 P. 726. In addition, the rule is that all parts of the charge to the jury must be construed together.

When taken as a whole, if the charge is substantially correct and could not have misled the jury, the verdict and judgment will not be disturbed. This rule bears such unquestioned indorsement and the cases supporting it are so numerous as to make the citation of authorities unnecessary.”

Again in *Mebr v. Child*, 90 Utah 348, 61 P 2d 624, the court said and held:

“Appellants having confined their objections to the whole instruction which is divisible into integral parts, they are not entitled to prevail on their assignment with respect to that instruction. When an instruction is divisible into integral parts and any one or more of the integral parts is not open to objection, then, and in such case, an objection to the whole must fail. Among the numerous cases in this jurisdiction which so hold are the following: *Farnsworth v. Union Pac. Coal Co.*, 32 Utah, 112, 89 P. 74; *Grow v. Utah Light & Ry. Co.*, 37 Utah, 41, 106 P. 514; *Rampton v. Cole*, 52 Utah, 36, 172 P. 477; *Hansen v. Oregon Short Line R. Co.*, 55 Utah, 577, 188 P. 852; *McLaughlin v. Chief Consol. M. Co.* 62 Utah, 532 220 P. 726.”

The plaintiffs' exception to Instruction No. 9 is not well taken. In that instruction the court outlined the duty of the defendant, Helen Cook, as he had outlined the duty of the defendant, W. S. Hatch Co., Inc. in Instruction No. 7, the duty of the plaintiff, Dr. Devine, in Instruction No. 8 and the duty of Mrs. Devine and Janet Gusinda in Instruction No. 6. In *Earle v. Salt Lake & Utah R. Corporation*, _____ Utah _____, 165 P. 2d, 877, the court held that the defendant could not complain of an instruction dealing with the duty imposed by law on the

railroad at intersections as unduly emphasizing the railroad's duty because the plaintiff's duty was not also set forth in such instruction where other instructions defined the plaintiff's duties. In its opinion the court said:

" * * * In Instruction No. 11, the court defined the duty imposed by law on defendant at intersections. Complaint is made that this unduly emphasizes defendant's duty because plaintiff's duty is not also set forth in that instruction. In Instructions Nos. 17, 18 and 19 the court defined the duty imposed on plaintiffs. It might have been more concise to get the instructions dealing with the duty of the respective parties closer together in the charge."

POINT III

ANY ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY COULD NOT PREJUDICE THE PLAINTIFFS AS TO THE DEFENDANT, W. S. HATCH CO., INC., AS THE MOTION OF THE DEFENDANT, W. S. HATCH CO., INC. FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED.

The only error claimed by the plaintiffs on this appeal is directed to the trial court's instructions. We submit that if the trial court erred in its instructions to the jury, such error was not prejudicial to plaintiffs so far as the defendant, W. S. Hatch Co., Inc. was concerned, as the court should have granted such defendant's motion for directed verdict at the close of the case. After all parties had rested the defendant, W. S. Hatch Co., Inc. moved the court as follows:

"If the court please, comes now the defendant, W. S. Hatch Company, and moves for an instruction directing the jury to return a verdict in favor of the defendant, W. S. Hatch Company, and against the plaintiffs, and each of them, no cause of action, on the ground and for the reason that the plaintiffs first have failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence or by any evidence that the defendant, W. S. Hatch Company, was guilty of any actionable negligence which caused or contributed to the cause of the accident and the resulting injuries.

"Second, that it affirmatively appears that James S. Devine, the driver of the car in which plaintiffs were riding, was guilty of negligence and that such negligence was the sole, proximate cause of the accident and the resulting injuries sustained by plaintiffs.

"Third, that it affirmatively appears from the evidence that plaintiffs were each guilty of negligence which contributed to the cause of the accident in failing to keep a proper look out and in failing to exercise ordinary care for their own safety and that such acts of negligence constituted contributory negligence which would bar their recovery." (Tr. 189-190)

The motion was taken under advisement and in view of the jury's verdict, was not ruled upon. This defendant earnestly contends that its motion for directed verdict should have been granted, particularly on the ground that the plaintiffs failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence or by any of the evidence that the defendant, W. S. Hatch Co., Inc., was guilty of any actionable negligence which caused or contributed to the cause of the accident and the injuries. The only act or omission on

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